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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THe--- --------. 
F'. ;- ;"''\ 

: L. r-· ;_; 

EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 

v. 

SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, 

Defendant. 

Norfolk Division 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

UNDER SEAL 

Criminal No. 2:llcr34 

r-·--------~ 

APR 1 7 2012 I 
-----.-·-·- ---- J 

C. i:. .1 A . : · · .: \-.. : ~ >...; :._; .~~~ 
'----..... ~~ · ... ______ '- . ,\ 

NOTICE OF INTENT TO SEEK A SENTENCE OF DEATH 

The United States of America hereby notifies the Court and the defendant, SHAN I NURANI 

SHIEKH ABRAR, and his counsel, that in the event of the defendant's conviction on any of Counts 

1-5,7-19 or22-25 of the Superseding Indictment, wherein the defendant is charged respectively with 

Conspiracy to Commit Hostage Taking Resulting in Death, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1203(a) 

(Count 1 ); Hostage Taking Resulting in Death, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1203(a) and 2 (Counts 

2-5); Kidnapping Resulting in Death, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1201(a)(2) and 2 (Counts 7-

1 O);Conspiracy to Commit Violence Against Maritime Navigation Resulting in Death, in violation 

of 18 U.S.C. § 2280(a)( 1 )(H) (Count 11 ); Violence Against Maritime Navigation Resulting in Death 

18 U.S.C. §§ 2280(a)( 1 )(A), (G) and 2 (Counts 12-15); Murder Within the Special Maritime and 

Territorial Jurisdiction of the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1111 and 2 (Counts 16-19); 

and Use, Carry, Brandish and Discharge of a Firearm During a Crime of Violence Resulting in 

Death, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 924(c), 9240) and 2 (Counts 22-25), the United States will seek 

the sentence of death, in that the circumstances of the offenses are such that a sentence of death is 

justified. 
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I. Statutory Threshold Findings Enumerated in 18 U.S.C. § 3591CalC2lCA)-(l}): 

The United States will seek to prove two threshold findings as the basis for imposition of the 

death penalty in relation to 1-5,7-19 and 22-25 ofthe Superseding Indictment: 

I. The defendant, SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, intentionally participated in an 

act, contemplating that the life of a person would be taken or intending that lethal force would be 

used in connection with a person, other than one of the participants in the offense, and Scon 

Underwood Adam, Jean Savage Adam, Phyllis Patricia Macay and Robert Campbell Riggle died as 

a direct result of the act. Title 18, United States Code, Section 3591 (a)(2)(C); 

2. The defendant, SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, intentionally and specifically 

engaged in an act of violence, knowing that the act created a grave risk of death to a person, other 

than one of the participants in the offense, such that participation in the act constituted a reckless 

disregard for human life and Scott Underwood Adam, Jean Savage Adam, Phyllis Patricia Macay 

and Robert Campbell Riggle died as a direct result of the act. Title 18, United States Code, Section 

3591 (a)(2)(D). 

II. Statutory Aggravating Factors Enumerated under 18 U.S.C. § 3592(c)(l) 
throue;h (16): 

The United States will seek to prove the following statutory aggravating factors as the basis 

for imposition of the death penalty in relation to Counts 1-5, 7-19 and 22-25 of the Superseding 

Indictment: 

I. The deaths, or injuries resulting in deaths, occurred during the defendant, SHANI 

NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR'S, commission or attempted commission of, or during his immediate 

flight from, the offenses of Kidnapping (18 U.S.C. § 1201); Hostage Taking (18 U.S.C. § 1203); and 
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Violence Against Maritime Navigation (18 U.S.C. § 2280). Title 18. United States Code, Section 

3592(c)(l ); 

2. The defendant, SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR. during the commission of the 

offenses, or in escaping apprehension for the violation of the offenses, knowingly created a grave 

risk of death to 1 or more persons in addition to the victims of the offenses. Title 18. United States 

Code, Section 3592(c)(5); and. 

3. The defendant. SHAN I NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, intentionally killed or attempted 

to kill more than 1 person in a single criminal episode. Title 18, United States Code, Section 

3592(c)(l6). 

III. Other Non-Statutory Ae.e;ravating Factors Identified under 18 U.S.C. & 3593(a} 
and (c): 

The United States will seek to prove the following non-statutory aggravating factors as 

the basis for imposition ofthe death penalty in relation to Counts 1-5.7-19 and 22-25 ofthe 

Superseding Indictment: 

1. The defendant, SHAN I NURANl SHIEKH ABRAR, caused injury, hann and loss 

to the victims and the victims' family and friends, as evidenced by the victims' personal 

characteristics and by the impact of their deaths upon the victims' family and friends. See Payne v. 

Tennessee, 501 U.S. 808,825-27 (1991). 

2. The defendant, SHAN I NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, made use of a minor individual 

(a person under the age of 18) to participate in the acts of hijacking and piracy charged in the 

Superseding Indictment. 
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3, The defendant, SHAN I NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, engaged in a course of conduct 

that threatened and directed violence towards members of the United States Armed Forces. 

4. The defendant, SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, engaged in at least one prior 

act of piracy or attempted piracy. 

5. Prior to the killings charged in the Superseding Indictment, the defendant, SHAN! 

NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, made threats of violence and death to Scott Underwood Adam, 

Jean Savage Adam, Phyllis Patricia Macay and Robert Campbell Riggle over a protracted period 

of time. 

6. The defendant, SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, displayed a callous disregard 

for human life by killing the victims in an especially wanton and gratuitous manner. 

The United States further gives notice that in support of imposition of the death penalty it 

intends to rely upon all the evidence admitted by the Court at the guilt phase of the trial and the 

offenses of conviction as described in the Superseding Indictment as they relate to the background 

and character of the defendant, SHANI NURANI SHIEKH ABRAR, his moral culpability, and the 

nature and circumstances of the offenses charged in the Superseding Indictment. 

By: 

Respectfully submitted, 

NEIL H. MACBRIDE 
UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

Brian J. Samuels 
Joseph E. DePadilla 
Assistant United States Attorneys 
Paul G. Casey 
Special Assistant United States Attorney 
United States Attorney's Office 
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101 West Main Street, Suite 8000 
Norfolk, VA 23510 
Office Number: 757-441-6331 
Facsimile Number: 757-441-6689 
E-Mail Address: Brian.Samuels@usdoj.gov 
Joe.Depadilla@usdoj .gov 
Paui.Casey@usdoj .gov 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on the 16th day of April, 2012, I filed the foregoing with the Clerk of 

Court, and on the same day served a copy of the same via electronic and U.S. mail on: 

Stephen A. Hudgins, Esq. 
360 Wythe Creek Road, Suite E 
Poquoson, VA 23663 
e~mail: sahudginspc@aol.com 
(Attorneys for Shaoi Nuraoi Shiek Abrar) 

Fernando Groene, Esq. 
P.O. Box 2152 
Williamsburg, VA 23185 
e~mail: groenelaw@yahoo.com 

Brian J. Samuels 
Assistant United States Attorney 
Virginia Bar No. 65898 
Attorney for the United States of America 
United States Attorney's Office for the 
Eastern District of Virginia 
Fountain Plaza Three, Suite 300 
721 Lakefront Commons 
Newport News, Virginia 23606 
Tel. (757) 591-4032 
Fax: (757) 591-0866 
brian.sarnuels@usdoj.gov 
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